THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE LAKE VICTORIA FISHERY: A Boon or Bane for Food Security?

Richard O. Abila¹

June 2000

¹ Research Scientist Kenya Marine & Fisheries Research Institute Kisumu Research Center P.O. Box 1881 Kisumu, KENYA



Table of Contents

Executive Summary	iv
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Food Security: A Review of Concepts	2
1.2 Fish, the Supreme Food	
1.3 Food Security; an Elusive Goal of Fisheries Policy	4
2. Status of Consumption	5
2.1 Fish Consumption	5
2.2 Per Capita Fish Consumption	6
2.3 Other Food Consumption	7
3. Causes of Food Insecurity	
3.1 Transformation of the Lake Victoria Fishery and Impacts on Food Security	
3.2 Food Production Constraints in the Lake Region	
3.3 Fishery Management Problems	
3.4 "Poverty Trap"	
3.5 Cultural Bottlenecks	
4. Consequences of Food Insecurity	
4.1 Malnutrition	
4.2 Famine	
4.3 Environmental Consequences	
5. Summary, Conclusion and Recommendations	
5.1 Summary	
5.2 Conclusion	
5.3 Recommendations	
6. REFERENCES	

Executive Summary

The Lake Victoria fishery has undergone tremendous development in the last two decades. From a socio-economic point of view, the greatest impact has been in the commercialization of the fishery and development of an export and fishmeal industry based on Nile perch and '*dagaa*', which together constitute over 90% of fish of Lake Victoria. The benefits of industrialization of the fishery are foreign exchange earnings to the country; higher value of the fishery, hence, its contribution to GDP; increased employment in fish production and processing; better incomes to fish factories, their middlemen and some categories of fishermen, especially those owning boats, gear and outboard engines. The development of the fishery of Lake Victoria has, on the other hand, had an impact the food security situation for lakeside communities.

The problem of food insecurity in the Lake Victoria region is multi-dimensional, arising from a number of causes that put constraints to food availability, or limit local people's access to it. Fish is central to the food insecurity problem for lakeside communities. As a rich protein food, it is one of the most prominent solutions to the protein-deficiency conditions affecting children in the lake area. It is also a potential income source for those engaged in fish production, processing and marketing. Income earned from the fishery and in related activities may be used to purchase energy foods and other protein substitutes. Despite these advantages, fish is lowly regarded in the national food policies. The fisheries policy objectives recognize the role of fish in improving food security locally, but the need to maximize foreign exchange has superseded the interest for domestic food security.

This report argues that the importance of fish in national food security has been reduced in two ways: one, food has become *less available* especially to non-fishing communities in the lake region. Secondly, there is *limited and declining access* by lakeside communities to fish. Factors contributing to fish unavailability include the export of Nile perch, the usage of '*dagaa*' and Nile perch frames for industrial purposes rather than direct human consumption, dwindling fish catch, among other issues. Limited access to fish, and other foods, for lakeside communities is caused by factors that reduce the purchasing power of households. They include, declining and processing sectors; unemployment in non-fishery sources; loss of employment in fish harvesting, artisanal trading and processing sectors; unemployment in non-fishery sectors; fishery management problems; entrenched poverty and lack of alternative income sources; and socio-cultural constraints to consumption of fish and other foods. The industrial and domestic demand for fish has also increased pressure on the Lake, leading to unsustainable fishing and raising fears of long-term food insecurity.

This report analyses the food security issue in relation to the development of the Lake Victoria fishery. In particular, the report focuses on role that fish and the fish industry play in food security for lakeside communities and national food policy goals.

The report is based on primary and secondary data collected at various times, published and unpublished documents as well as the author's own observations over a number of years of working as researcher on socio-economic aspects of the Lake Victoria fishery. The paper concludes that, even though the development of the fishery has certain positive impacts on the lakeside communities and the national economy, the transformation has made fish, and other foods, less available and accessible. The current trends in the fish industry do not promote the important objectives set by the Government of Kenya for development of the fishery, in particular in relation to food security. Various recommendations are made to lessen the potential impacts the development of the fishery has on the food security situation of vulnerable communities in the Lake region. Recommendations are also made for nonconflicting fishery policy objectives, control on the expansion of industrial fish processing and exports and proper fishery management, including better surveillance, enforcement of the existing regulations and allocation of property rights to fisher communities.

1. Introduction

Famine, malnutrition or in the short-term, hunger, remain some of the most intriguing challenges facing mankind at the close of the 20th century. Food insecurity is a global problem affecting much of the third world, and which demands concerted efforts by multiple institutions, including governments, development agencies, providers of relief services, international organisations as well as community groups. In the mid-1990s it was estimated that 33% of the population in Africa, comprising of some 138 million people, was food insecure (IFPRI, 1995; USAID, 1994). In particular, the three countries sharing Lake Victoria - Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda – are in a region especially prone to debilitating and widespread effects of hunger and famine. Attempts are often made to relieve periodic crises through food aid and other emergencies. These, however, are short-term measures that do not provide lasting solutions to the food problem.

Food insecurity in the Great Lakes region is a problem affecting a multiple of sectors, and which goes beyond different political or geographical boundaries. The Lake Victoria basin, in particular, is poverty characterised bv entrenched and environmental degradation, arising from land degradation, soil erosion, desertification, biodiversity loss, among other factors. Such problems have partly compounded difficulties in producing sufficient agricultural food, trapping people in a vicious downward cycle of food insecurity. However, unlike other parts of East Africa, the lake region is famed for her rich fishery. Yet, despite this unique and vast natural food resource, many of the local communities who depend on the Lake Victoria fishery for their

livelihood are among the most food insecure in the region.

This report focuses on food security in relation to development in the Lake Victoria fishery, particularly in Kenya. It reviews concepts and perceptions of food security and examines how it is affected by economic, technological and sociocultural transformation in the fisheries sector. Central to this is the role of fish both as a food resource and as a commodity that can earn income through exchange, and whose exploitation and trading is an important source of gainful employment. The overriding objective of the report is to evaluate the impacts of the development of the Lake Victoria fishery on food security, in terms of enhanced or decreased availability and access to fish and complementary foods by local communities.

The fishery is still undergoing tremendous changes. New actors are moving into the fishery, some of them introducing fish harvesting methods previously unknown in the area, and which should raise environmental concern. The fish marketing subsector is also undergoing significant development, with increasing fish processing and fishmeal production capacities and expansion in both domestic and export demand for fish.

Various recommendations are, therefore, made to lessen the potential impacts of the transformation of the fishery on the food security situation of vulnerable lakeside communities. Results and number of years by the author. Many times in the text, reference is made to 'lakeside communities', 'Lake Victoria communities' or 'fishery-dependent communities', as the target group.

There is no clear demarcation of the geographical area occupied by these communities referred to in the text. The same terms have previously been used by other authors, sometimes in reference to fishing communities living right on lakeside villages, while others use it to describe selected communities in the whole Lake Victoria basin. In this study, perhaps the target group can best be described as those local communities who in one way or another depend on Lake Victoria or who live around the lake, even if they do not directly gain from it. These are the communities to whom development of the fishery has a lot of impact. They gain or lose from increased fish trade, industrialisation of the fishery, overfishing and any other changes in the fishery

The report proceeds under the following premises: First, that fish is potentially the single most important food resource for lakeside communities. The supremacy of fish as food over other protein sources is clearly explained in sections of the text ahead. Second, that the Lake Victoria fishery can be the greatest source of income and livelihood for those engaged in fish production, processing, marketing and related activities. Increased participation by local communities in fishery activities has the potential to improve their income base, hence, give them greater access to fish and other foods. The benefits of the fishery, if well harnessed, can trickle-down to a large number of other dependants who are not directly involved in fishery activities. Third, based on the above two premises, one way of tackling the food insecurity problem lies in improved management of the fishery to provide greater benefits to local people in terms of food and income.

1.1 Food Security: A Review of Concepts

Food security is a broad concept, whose meaning and scope has evolved over the years. The traditional concepts of food security included simple measures such as national food production, food grain storage, national food self-sufficiency and food aid. These were mainly macro indicators reflecting food supply, and which were used as a basis for developing conventional early warning systems against famine. In designing these systems, it was believed that such indicators could predict acute food insecurity and cause the relevant authorities to respond adequately through centralised distribution of national food reserves or food aid (Davies et al, 1991). However, famine has continued even in the face of conventional early warning systems. It has also not been possible to develop interventions that may prevent or reduce the extent of food insecurity situations in future (Buchanan-Smith et al. 1994).

According to Palfreman and Insull (1994), the global food production has outstripped population growth, thus, in the global arena, purchasing power should be the limiting factor to food security. This view, however, may not apply in many areas, particularly in the Lake Victoria region where food supply, distribution and affordability are all evidently major bottlenecks. In any case, it is now recognised that local food insecurity can exist amidst global food security, and that national and international development policies affect the food security situation at the household level.

This has prompted the need to redefine food security

household subsistence needs and generating sufficient surpluses to exchange for cash so as to meet other livelihood and food needs. The World Bank (1986) defined food security as ' access by all people at all times to enough food for an active healthy life'. Its essential elements are the availability of food and the ability to acquire it. A more detailed definition used at the World Food Summit is 'all people at all times having physical and economic access to sufficient, safe and nutritious food to meet their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life' (FAO, 1996). Simply put, food security means 'access to food for a healthy life by all people at all times' (Barraclough, 1996).

Most authorities, therefore, define food security in terms of access to food, sufficiency of food, ability of food to ensure an active and healthy life, and the consistency of access to food. Thus, the capacity to produce and store food is still critical, even though not sufficient, to ensure food security. Similarly, access to food - determined by the ability to buy or acquire food, control productive resources, or exchange other goods and services for food - is another important index of food security (In summary, fish has many advantages over other foods. It is an important source of protein to the poor as it is cheaper in comparison to meat, poultry and dairy products. Fish adds flavour to diet; is rich in essential fatty acids, vitamins and minerals and is easier to process and store (for example by sun-drying) compared to the alternative sources of animal protein.

1.3 Food Security; an Elusive Goal of Fisheries Policy

One of the stated policy goals of the Kenya Government is to improve the quality of life of its citizenry. It is government policy that nutrition objectives be considered in development projects, and that priority be given to collection and analysis of information on nutritional status of the population so that programs are designed to eliminate nutritional deficiencies. The Sessional Paper No.4 of 1981 on 'National Food Policy' stresses the role of government in attaining food security, by reducing problems relating to production, distribution and consumption (Kenya Government, 1994b). The central goal of Kenya's national food policy is to ensure that there is adequate supply of nutritionally balanced food in all parts of the country at all times. Specifically, the food policy aims at maintaining self-sufficiency and ensuring fair distribution of nutritive foodstuffs. Mogaka (1999) explains that this entails some or all of the following: increased food production, a food monitoring and reporting system, monitoring and forecasting weather in agricultural zones and growing drought-resistant crops in the dry lands.

The food policy puts much emphasis on staple foodstuffs, mainly grains, and has very little mention for protein foods such as fish. This is understandable since energy food requirement is often seen as very critical in many developing countries. However, protein deficiency is also commonly reported in many developing countries, Kenya included, particularly in the Lake region. Ikiara (1999) notes that fish has been regarded as a relatively unimportant food in the national scale. Fish is often seen as an important source of protein only in regions such as the Nyanza and Western provinces, where it is produced. Despite this, the government has clearly defined policy objectives for the fishery, where emphasis is put on attaining food security. These include goals to; i) achieve increased per capita fish consumption through the production of low cost protein food (fish); ii) generate employment opportunities and incomes in fishing, fish processing and trading; and iii) enhance the living conditions of the fishermen and their families by maximizing economic benefits to them (Kenya Government, 1995). A fourth, and somehow conflicting goal, is to maximize foreign exchange earnings from fish exports.

In summary, the Government of Kenya's policy goals for the fishery is increased fish production so as to enhance the supply of proteins, raise incomes and increase contribution to the GDP, in addition to contributing to employment creation and foreign exchange earnings. If these stated objectives of the government were achieved, the fishery would contribute greatly towards food security of lakeside communities. However, there is limited scope of expanding the resource base, which makes it difficult to achieve all of the stated policy objectives, some of which are contradictory in their aims. In practice, undue emphasis has been placed on the attainment of foreign exchange from exports over all other policy objectives for the fishery, especially those addressing the essential role of fisheries in the domestic food policy.

Table 1. Full live value of Common Full a Foods					
Food type	Protein	Protein	MJ of energy	Weight of food	Weight of food providing 40g of
	content	uunzauon	contained in 100g of	containing 40g of	protein (adjusted for protein
		rate	food	protein	utilization rate)
Dried fish	63%	83%	1.3	63g	76g

Table 1. Nutritive Value of Common Natural Foods

2. Status of Consumption

2.1 Fish Consumption

Information on fish consumption is limited and very often inconsistent. Some nutritional studies have been conducted in the lake region, but they tend to be confined to specific districts, localities or to particular communities and rarely do they focus on fish. In spite of this, the contribution of fish to the economy and diets of lakeside communities is a subject that has attracted a lot of interest in recent years. For example, all major research projects currently being implemented on Lake Victoria fisheries have, as one of their objectives, to study some aspects of fish marketing and consumption. This has probably arisen because they have identified certain information gaps in relation to fish consumption.

One the most comprehensive studies on fish marketing and consumption around Lake Victoria was recently carried out by SEDAWOG [An acronym for Socio-economics Data Working Group], which is a unit of the Lake Victoria Fisheries Research Project. The report of SEDAWOG (1999a) shows that the largest proportion (constituting 46%) of fish consumers on the Kenyan side of the lake eat fish only 1-2 times a week. Generally most of the consumers, about 58%, do not change their fish eating patterns throughout the year. For 78% of the consumers, tilapia is the favorite fish to eat. However, the favorite fish species is not what is always available, and many of these consumers who prefer tilapia switch to other species, such as '*dagaa*'

or one of the forms of Nile perch, whenever they cannot get tilapia.

Another fish consumption study, conducted for the Lake Victoria Environment Management Program (LVEMP) on 48 fishing and non-fishing households living on 3 villages next to Lake Victoria, revealed that, in fact, most households eat '*dagaa*' and tilapia more frequently than Nile perch (Abila *et al*, 1998). However, households buy larger quantities and spend more money on tilapia each time they buy it than when they buy '*dagaa*'. For example, most families buy about 1 Kg of tilapia and spend about Ksh 50 each time they go to buy it. In comparison,

The IUCN Socio-economics of the Lake Victoria Fishery Project also funded, in a relatively small scale, a study on the consumption of fish in the lake region in 1997 (unpublished). This was a comparative survey conducted in three sites: Karungu, a small fishing village; Migori, a mediumsize urban center; and Kisumu, the largest town in the lake region. A total of 258 households, fairly distributed in the three sites, were interviewed. As in the SEDAWOG results above, this study also found that most households, 61%, consume fish just two times in a week. It also established that Nile perch is eaten much less than tilapia and 'dagaa'. Nearly 47% of the households gave tilapia as the fish they consume most, 32% mentioned 'dagaa' while only 22% gave Nile perch. On average, families spent about Ksh 40 to buy fish every time they had it for a meal. This compares well with the findings of the other studies. Of the respondents, 63% indicated that their fish consumption pattern changes for some months in the year.

Naturally, fish consumption would be expected to be highest in areas adjacent to water bodies where fish is harvested, and in major urban areas. This view is consistent with the observations made in the mid-1980s by Nyagambi (1988). The great paradox, though, is that protein malnutrition reported as being greatest in the fishing districts. This, according to Ikiara (1999), is mainly because these communities eat very little of the fish they produce and, yet, they have no access to supplementary sources of proteins. There is still low acceptance of fish as food in parts of the country due to cultural and social norms, religion, food beliefs and personal factors. Possibly as a result of these factors, Ogutu (1988) estimated that in the period 1984 to 1986, only 3% of the fish landed from the Kenyan part of Lake Victoria was consumed by the fishermen and their families.

Where as there may be several differences in the results of the consumption studies cited above, the following generalizations could be made. First, fish consumption is lower than would be expected in the lake region, with a majority of households eating it just about two times in a week. Secondly, tilapia and '*dagaa*' are the most consumed species. While tilapia is the favourite fish, '*dagaa*' has the advantage of divisibility and affordability. Third, consumption patterns tend to change within the month and during the year; and this seems to be affected by the level of fish supply, price of fish, availability and price of substitutes.

2.2 Per Capita Fish Consumption

Per capita consumption is simply a measure of the quantity of a product that, on average, one person in a defined area utilizes in one year. It is a very useful measurement, since it can be used to compare changes in consumption over a number of years. The most direct way to estimate per capita food consumption is by dividing, if data is available, the tonnage of food consumed in the subject area with its population. In the fishery of Lake Victoria, lack of reliable data is often a major shortcoming in deriving per capita fish consumption. There is hardly any accurate data on fish landing or on the quantity of fish entering and leaving one district or any defined area of study.

Some studies attempt to estimate per capita consumption through household surveys, bv recording what each member of a household eats in a year. For a small locality composed of just a few households, this perhaps offers the most reliable results. However, as the study area enlarges, problems arise in relation to sampling, boundary definition and knowledge of numbers of households within the study area. Available estimates of per capita fish consumption must, therefore, be cautiously interpreted. Their accuracy depends on how they are derived, and what assumptions are made in calculating them. This may explain why the estimates made by different authors vary and are often quite inconsistent.

According to the SEDAWOG (1999a) report, fisheating households on the Kenyan part of Lake Victoria consume, on average, 42 Kg of fish per person per year, a figure that appears quite high. As would be expected, the report shows that fish consumption progressively declines as one moves According to various annual reports of the Fisheries Department, Kenya's per capita fish consumption at independence stood at 2.2 Kg per annum. This is estimated to have risen to 3 Kg in 1980 and then to 7.5 Kg per annum in 1999. However, Bokea and Ikiara (2000) explain that these figures may be inaccurate since they were calculated based only on the levels of fish supply, and completely ignored fish exports, imports and quantities used in fishmeal industry. These figures are inconsistent with estimates of Abila and Jansen (1997), who estimated the per capita fish consumption in Kenya at about 3.76 Kg and 3.13 Kg for 1995 and 1996 respectively. In their calculation, the authors took account of the levels of fish landings, exports and imports, quantity of fish used for fishmeal and changes in the population.

In spite of the inaccuracies, none of the figures above achieves the national per capita fish consumption of 9.3 Kg per annum which Okemwa and Getabu (1996) suggest as the desirable target for Kenya. The situation is worsened by Kenya's very high disparity in income distribution, which means that most of the fish is eaten by the high income groups while the poor may have none of it altogether. A point to note, though, is that per capita fish consumption in the country seems to be on the decline.

2.3 Other Food Consumption

Table 2 gives the mean monthly values of selected foods consumed by sampled households in all eight provinces in Kenya. The Table indicates that Nyanza province, which is the base of the Lake Victoria fishery, consumes among

3. Causes of Food Insecurity

Food insecurity in the Lake Victoria is due to a number of factors. The severity of a particular cause

around the lake. Fish which was not sold fresh was processed by being smoked or sun-dried on the beach and carried to local inland markets by the traders. There were few wholesalers in the fish trade, and the traders never acquired control over the fishermen as they have managed to do in so many other traditional fisheries through the establishment of credit relationships. Most of the animal protein eaten by the local population came from fish of the lake (Jansen, 1973; 1977).

The rapid proliferation of Nile perch started in the Kenyan part of Lake Victoria about 15-20 years after the fish was introduced. In 1978 about 1,000 tonnes of Nile perch were caught, in 1981 nearly 23,000 and in 1985 the production had increased to 50,000 tonnes. The Nile perch landing peaked at about 123,000 in 1991, and has since been on a declining trend (Abila and Jansen, 1997). It is estimated that only about 54,000 tonnes of Nile perch was landed in 1997 (Othina, 1999). In the Kenyan portion of the Lake, in 1995, about 91.5% of the catch consisted of a combination of Nile erch comosing 47.2% and Dagaa constituting 44.3% (Othina & Osewe-Odera, 1996). Thus, from a multi-species fishery in the 1960s, the lake is now basically a two-species fishery.

The reduction of most species probably occurred as a result of

natural resources. Issues of sustainable resource

management and poverty reduction, among others, hardly ever feature in the free trade agenda. As a result, public welfare and sustainable development are subordinated in pursuit of self-interest and commercial profits. Unfortunately, governments of developed and developing countries remain bound by the principle that trade should be deregulated, and in fact encouraged.

The free trade philosophy has taken root in both the fish harvesting and marketing sub-sectors of the Lake Victoria fishery. The Kenya Fisheries Act places some restriction on certain fish harvesting techniques and mesh sizes. However, there is no limit on the number of fishing vessels or nets one may own. There is also sufficient leeway for one to switch from a less yielding fishing method to one which catches a lot of fish, even if this may have negative effects on sustainability of the fishery. In the marketing sub-sector too, there is hardly any form of control. One is free to buy any amount of fish at any of the recognized landing beaches at any price and sell it anywhere in the world at any price. It has been argued that the free trade policy is what has encouraged investments in the fish processing and exporting industry (Odongkara, 1999). The lack of price and other controls has ensured that the fish business remains lucrative, attracting new investors to establish new fish factories even when official statistics show that catches are on the decline.

Thus, the Kenya Government, international organizations and the fish processing industry itself have put a lot of effort to globalize fish trade, in line with international free trade principles. Abila and Jansen (1997) and Bokea and Ikiara (2000) describe some of these strategies in earlier publications. They include providing low-interest loans for constructing and equipping fish factories, low taxes or tax exemptions, duty exemption on essential factory equipment, funding projects aimed at improving fish quality, among others. Perhaps the most relevant recent example of such action is the Bunyala Fisheries Project described in Box 1 below.

To continue on the present course of unregulated trade in fishery products can impose huge costs on vulnerable communities, and threaten the interests of future generations. The difficulty, however, is to find alternative ways of balancing competing objectives of economic growth, employment creation, sustainable resource management and social equity. There is need for new trade rules which reconcile the demands of global commerce with people's social and environmental rights as well as food security needs.

BOX 1. BUNYALA FISHERIES PROJECT

The Bunyala Fisheries Project, to be initiated in early 2000, is to be located at Marenga, a remote fish-landing beach on Lake Victoria in Busia District. The overall project will cost Ksh 19 million, 90% of which will be financed by Community Development Trust Fund (CDTF) and the remaining 10% contribution by Bunyala Fishermen Co-operative Society. It will involve the construction of a fish landing jetty about 100m long, jutting into the lake; construction and equipping of a cold room and an ice making plant.

The objective of the project is to improve fish handling and enhance offshore preservation of fish. A consultant's report on the feasibility of the project was very positive that it would improve income to fishermen in the area, through the Bunyala Fishermen Co-operative Society (ETC, 1998). Not only will they be in a position to bargain for better fish prices, they will also sell ice and cold-storage services, hence generate additional revenue. The main fish targeted is Nile perch, but sellers of Tilapia and other species may also buy ice and be able to transport fish in better quality to major urban markets. The benefits of the project, according to the report, will trickle down to other sectors, such as sellers of cold drink and other businesses in the town. From the onset, therefore, it appears that there are sufficient economic benefits to justify investment on the Bunyala Fisheries Project.

However, the project seems to be the first in what currently is the policy in the fish processing industry, of building infrastructure on fish landing beaches to ensure quality fish exports. This policy is detailed in a communiqué from the association of fish processors in Kenya, which has been distributed, to fish factories, relevant government departments and potential financiers of the scheme. Bokea and Ikiara (2000) have presented a copy of that memorandum in their publication. It is true, and quite proper, that some quality improvement in fish should be attained through better infrastructure on fish landing beaches. What is at stake, however, is the lopsided nature of such a policy, and its potential effects on food security and the control of the beaches. In the first place, the policy aims only at improving quality of fish for exports and completely ignores quality aspects of domestically consumed fish. The policy also aims at increased quantities of better quality fish exports, without considering what this implies to the already precarious food security situation of local communities.

After building the infrastructure, the fish processors will fence off the developed fish-landing beach. Only personnel of Fisheries Department, Veterinary, Fishermen Co-operatives, Fish traders and fish processors from the export industry will gain access to the enclosed landing. This, according to the communiqué, is to prevent fish getting contaminated. If the plan is implemented, therefore, members of the local communities will not be allowed to enter the fish landing and freely buy Nile perch. This policy will make Nile perch officially a fish for export only. For the first time in the history of fishing on Lake Victoria, local people will be officially barred from buving fish in their own fishing village! This, no doubt, will aggravate the food insecurity situation of local

3.1.2 Nile Perch Processing

The development of the fish processing and marketing industry is closely linked to the rapid growth of the Nile perch fishery in the last decade. A huge demand for Nile perch developed quickly in the industrialized countries during that period. In order to satisfy this market, processing factories were established along the shoreline of Lake Victoria. The first Nile perch processing plants in Kenya were set up in the early and mid 1980s to process Nile perch and export its fillets to markets overseas (Reynolds and Greboval, 1988). They proved to be so profitable that more factories soon were set up in all the three countries. Today there are about 35 factories spread around the lake in the three countries.

A report by SEDAWOG (1999a) based on a survey of 25 factories in the three East African countries show that 88% of the factories were established after 1990. Many of the factories have been financed by international development banks and received support from government development aid agencies of the industrialized countries. Most of the factories have the technical capacity to process Nile perch that far exceeds the amount of fish they are able to obtain (Jansen, 1996; Abila and Jansen, 1997; SEDAWOG, 1999a)

The filleting factories around Lake Victoria are, therefore, competing to secure sufficient raw fish. Additionally, the factories compete for fish with the traditional fish processors, traders and consumers. This competition is not easily realized as, in many cases, the local traders have been completely displaced from the trade. At any fish-landing site, only factory trucks are seen buying Nile perch. The women traders are often seen standing far off, perhaps buying juvenile Nile perch or that rejected by factory trucks. However, whenever there are problems with the export trade, such as a ban on fish exports, or when a factory truck fails to arrive, the number of women buying Nile perch quickly increases. Traditional smoking kilns are quickly reconstructed and the women processors cum-traders are able to handle huge amounts of Nile perch at very short notice. Previously the factories only processed Nile perch of minimum weight 2-3 Kg. Due to increased competition for the dwindling supply of Nile perch, they now accept lower weights, at times even under 1 Kg. Approximately 90-95% of good quality Nile perch above 2 Kg goes to factories for processing. Nearly all Nile perch available in the local markets are the juveniles or that rejected by factories due to poor quality.

The fish factories vary widely in sizes, with processing capacity ranging between 10 to 75 tons of whole Nile perch per day. According to Abila and Jansen (1997), the fish factories in Kenya can process

up to 380 tons of whole fish per day. In 1996, the factories processed only about 208 tons per day, indicating that only 55% of this capacity was actually utilized. This finding is reflected by the results of a more recent survey presented by SEDAWOG (1999a), which estimates that only 49% of processing capacity by fish factories in Kenya is actually utilized. Abila and Jansen (1997) have explained why factories under-utilize their capacity. For most companies, the main constraint limiting maximum production is due to the difficulty in getting enough fish to process. Irrespective of all strategies put in place by various factories to procure fish supplies, many of them still cannot get sufficient quantities consistently. The second limitation is related to fish quality for the export market. Due to constraints in the availability of skilled labor and processing facilities, factories can only handle a limited volume of fish at a given time. Some factories also find difficulty in accessing particular markets overseas. This problem is common especially to new factories that have not established contacts with reliable fish wholesalers or retailers abroad.

In effect, fishing on Lake Victoria has been transformed from subsistence into a largely commercial activity. Rather than supplying local food needs, most of the catch is processed into high value export products or ingredients of animal feeds. This has deprived poor people of a ready access to their traditional source of proteins. Access to fish may be limited in three ways. First, the relatively high prices paid by processing factories makes it unaffordable to local consumers. Secondly, the export market takes nearly all good quality Nile perch. Local consumers can only get Nile perch that has been rejected by factories as undersize or poor quality. Third, concentration of fish harvesting resources in the hands of a few rich fishermen alienates the majority of potential fishermen from their entitlement to the fish resources.

3.1.3 Nile Perch Frames Processing

Nile perch processing, the remains of the filleted Nile perch, commonly known as the frame (or *Mgongo Wazi*), was considered a waste, and factories incurred expenses to dispose of it. In less than a decade, this product has become an important part of the diet of many people especially in Western Kenya. By the late 1980s, almost all Nile perch frames produced by factories was consumed by local people or discarded. The animal feeds manufacturing industry then depended either on imported fishmeal, fishmeal made from '*dagaa*' or crushed animal bones and offal from the Kenya Meat Commission (KMC) slaughterhouses. However, the fishmeal industry soon started to use Nile perch frames in processing fishmeal.

Their

demand for frames has increased so much that they now compete directly with the local market processing it for human food. In 1996 approximately 17,000 tons of Nile perch frames was processed to yield 4,000 tons of fishmeal, representing about 17% of fishmeal used in Kenya. It was then estimated that 55 tons per day, or 59%, of frames produced in Kenya went for fishmeal. The remaining 39 tons was left for local processing for direct human consumption (Abila and Jansen, 1997).

The fish processing factories have also adopted filleting techniques that remove more than half of flesh on the skeleton (frame). A common phrase by the artisanal frame processors is that these frames are "too naked". Consumers of such frames hardly get any edible flesh off the skeletons. It should be pointed out that even for a fairly filleted Nile perch, the edible flesh left on the skeleton is only 10-20% of the frame's weight. The rest is mainly bone, which are discarded by the eater. Increased filleting efficiency, therefore, further reduces this little edible flesh on the skeletons.

Despite these practices, the demand for frames by local consumers, who are usually the poorest in the community, has continued to rise. New artisanal "factories", at which frames are fried in deep oil, have emerged in Kisumu, Migori and Homa-bay, the same areas where processing factories are located. The fried frames have a ready market in several parts of Kenya, especially in the western region. Kakamega, Busia, Kitale, Bungoma, Oyugis, Kisii, Awendo, Rongo, Kisumu, Migori and Homa-bay are some of the prominent markets for the product. Other traders obtaining frames from Kisumu have been able to sell them to markets further inland such as

In summary, the recent changes in the processing and marketing of Nile perch frames, therefore, have three important negative implications to the local food security situation. First, increased use of frames in the fishmeal industry means that most of it is now not available for direct human consumption. Secondly, the factories remove much more flesh off available frames, thus greatly reducing its value as a food. Third, competition has caused a rise in ex-factory, and consequently retail, prices of frames. Initially considered a "poor man's food" which many people would not consider to eat, the frame has increased in price so much that poor consumers often cannot afford to purchase it (Jansen, 1996).

3.1.4 'Dagaa' in the fish meal Industry

According to KMFRI's catch records, '*dagaa*' constituted about 77,000 tons, or 44% of the fish landed on the Kenyan part of Lake Victoria in 1995. In 1997 the catch had declined to about 68,000, although it now composed about half of the total fish landed in that year. In each of the past eight years it has composed between 37-50% of the catch (Othina and Osewe-Odera, 1996; Othina, 1999). Previously '*dagaa*' has mainly been used for human consumption. It has been considered a "poor man's food" and has been a source of protein, especially to many low and medium income fish consumers in the country.

However, a significant proportion of this fish now goes into making fishmeal. The fishmeal industry in Kenya uses about 53,000 tons of wet '*dagaa*' annually. This is equivalent to about 69% of all '*dagaa*' landed in the country in 1995 (Abila & Jansen, 1997).

The animal feeds industry in Kenya started using 'dagaa' as the main source of crude protein in feeds in the early 1990s. In 1996 there were six major animal feeds manufacturing companies in Kenya that depended on 'dagaa'. The interest on dagaa has continued to rise, and at least two new factories using 'dagaa' have been established since 1997. The interest shown by the fishmeal industry for 'dagaa' has important implications for the food security situation in the country. With most of the Nile perch going for export, 'dagaa' has remained the "staple fish" to many households around Lake Victoria. For a long time, its price was low and many local people could afford to buy it. However, the price of dried 'dagaa' going for human consumption rose considerably from less than Ksh 20 in 1990 to about Ksh 60 per Kg in 1995. This has been attributed to increased pressure due to fishmeal factories buying this fish. The price has since fluctuated at Ksh 30-60 per Kg, depending on the season (Abila and Jansen, 1997).

The ready availability of '*dagaa*' continues to attract investors into fishmeal processing. It is likely to be one of the raw materials in the fishmeal plant at Nyangoma described in the Box 2 above. The continued use of '*dagaa*' for fishmeal will make it scarce and cause further price increases. Since most of its consumers are

vulnerable to any competition, however slight, with fishmeal factories. Despite the use of 'dagaa' in fishmeal industry leading to increases in its price, it has continued to have a strong demand in many communities around Lake Victoria. A fish consumption survey conducted for the IUCN 'Socio-economics of the Nile perch fishery on the Lake Victoria' project revealed that 89-95% of rural households are ready consumers of 'dagaa' (unpublished). However 79% of these households already find it more difficult now to get or afford 'dagaa' than five years previously. As more 'dagaa' goes for fishmeal, it has become scarce in many areas, and its price has progressively risen, preventing many consumers from getting sufficient access to it.

From the consumers' point of view, 'dagaa' has a distinct advantage. Being a sardine-like fish, people can buy small quantities of it without any difficulty. Many relatively poor consumers buy 'dagaa' for only Ksh 10-20 at a time, and still the fish contributes an important source of animal protein in their diet. Whereas the use of fish frames for fishmeal may, to some extent, be justified in that it is a by-product of fish processing which is consumed only as a last resort, the use of 'dagaa' for animal feeds cannot be sufficiently excused. Its high protein content and flesh composition is an advantage to the consumers, especially to children threatened with malnutrition. Yet, with increased industrialization of the fishery, these advantages of 'dagaa' will be lost to the local communities.

The next two sub-sections summarize and contrast the positive impacts of transformation of the Lake Victoria fishery against its negative effects.

3.1.5 Positive Impacts of the Transformation

Despite the food insecurity concerns, the development of the fishery of Lake Victoria has certain significant positive impacts. Citing various reports of the Department of Fisheries, Bokea and Ikiara (2000) estimate that about 798,000 people depend on the fishery directly or indirectly for their source of livelihood. Those directly employed in fish production increased four times from 10,000 in 1973 to 40,000 in 1998. Thus, the fishery transformation has been important in creating new employment opportunities especially in the fish harvesting sector.

Another important benefit of the transformation of the fishery is in foreign exchange earnings from fish exports, which increased by over 300% from Ksh. 18 million in

local people with low incomes, they are likely to be

In addition, the government earns revenue through licensing fish processing and fishmeal firms, registration of boats, court fines, issuance of fish traders licenses and export certificates. The local councils and co-operative societies serving fish landing beaches also receive some amount levied on each Kg of fish sold to fish factories. Bokea and Ikiara (2000) estimate that in one year the Government earns Ksh. 132 million from the fishery, which can be directly attributed to transformation of the fishery. The Lake Victoria fishery also makes a small but important contribution to Kenya's GDP. The industry accounted for an average of 0.2% of the country's annual GDP between 1971 and 1981, which rose to 2% and 4.4% of the non-monetary and monetary GDP, respectively by 1990 (Ikiara, 1999). However, as is indicated in Table 3 below, stagnated at about 0.3% in much of the last decade.

The transformed fishery has also caused an increase in fish prices, which directly interprets as an improvement in earnings to fishermen. According to Bokea and Ikiara (2000), the ex-vessel price of Nile perch increased by about nine times between 1988 and 1995. However, much of this benefit has been cut down by the prevailing inflation. In fact, the change in the real prices (adjusted for inflation) of '*dagaa*' and tilapia were found to be downward during the same period. There are also spin-offs in trade on Nile perch skeletons and trade on Nile perch bladders. To fishmeal processors, there is a benefit in ready availability of fish skeletons and '*dagaa*', which come at a lower price than they would get from the alternative sources. Propounding on these benefits, Odongkara (1999) argues that the transformation of the fishery from a food production to a commercial activity, integrated into the national economic structures and into the international market is compatible, and in fact essential, for attaining food security.

	1992	1993	1994	1995	1996	
Fisheries (Non-monetary)	1.27	1.21	1.26	1.31	1.42	
Fishing (monetary)	12.24	12.60	13.11	13.65	14.20	
Total fishing	13.51	13.81	14.37	14.96	15.62	

Table 3. Contribution of Fisheries to GDP at Constant (1982) Prices (M K£)

Last, but just as important, the unrestricted fish trade has contributed to food insecurity and reduced nutrition by taking out substantial quantities of fish to global markets, that would otherwise be available to local consumers. It is not possible to adequately compensate these people for the fish taken away. To most of these people, the lake is simply a source of food (fish), since they do not directly benefit from fish exports.

According to Ikiara (1999), the lack of a ceiling on the amount of fish exported per period denies Kenyans a cheap source of protein and increases pressure on the resource base. Similarly, the failure of government to rationalize the use of fish and fish products in the animal feeds industry also manifests a food policy that is focussed in the wrong direction. The proteins produced using animal feeds, such as poultry, beef and pork are not as readily accessible to poor people as fish would be, had they sufficient access to it.

3.2 Food Production Constraints in the Lake Region

Besides fishing, the main occupations of communities living around Lake Victoria are smallscale crop farming, livestock keeping, and trading of farm produce. The main crops grown are maize, sorghum, cassava, sugarcane, cotton, beans, millet and rice paddy (Kenya Government, 1996). The first three above are the common staple food crops in the area.

Cassava, a common crop in the drier parts of the lake region, is relatively very poor nutritionally in terms of energy and protein content. Communities that depend entirely on the crop are thus prone to nutrition problems, unless there is sufficient supplementation with carbohydrate and protein foods. In comparison, maize and millet both have higher energy output (Table 1). However, some parts of the lake region receive very little annual rainfall, which is insufficient to support growing of maize or millet. For example, in areas around Muhuru and Kadem in Migori District, maize can hardly grow, owing to the harsh weather. The ability of cassava to withstand prolonged drought makes it the dominant staple crop in these areas.

Agricultural production in all lakeshore districts declined in the early and mid-1990s, making the region a net importer of most farm produce. O'Riordan (1997) has cited the major causes of the decline in farm production as decreasing farm sizes, declining soil fertility, unreliable rainfall, increasing cost of farm inputs and emigration to urban areas or to the fisheries sector.

(

In the past, reports Geheb (1996), lower population levels and strong intra-clan relationships ensured that fishing combined with farming provided enough food for nutritional and exchange needs for all members of the fishing community. The situation has changed a lot because the present harvest is insufficient to meet food needs of a rapidly growing lakeside population. Declines in agricultural production do not seem to have been offset by earnings from other economic activities in the area. The decline in yields and income from agriculture around Lake Victoria has exposed local communities to increased levels of food insecurity.

Mogaka (1999) blames erratic weather, low incomes and poverty, poor infrastructure and lack of adequate storage facilities for failure to achieve food security at the household level in Kenya. Elsewhere in the Tanzanian shores of Lake Victoria, the main causes of food insecurity have been identified as inadequate food supply resulting from low and unreliable agricultural production, low consumer purchasing power, insufficient feeding frequency and increasing demand on women's workloads (TAFIRI, 1998). The latter is seen as a prominent problem since rural women must perform a number of chores, including planting and weeding, harvesting and marketing surplus food as well as household duties, which reduces the amount of time available to look after children.

In Uganda, Odongkara (1999) disapproves of the common view that food security among fishing communities is primarily a question of access to adequate supply of fish. He argues that fish may be a desirable food, but even with a minimum of it, there can still be food security for the communities. In his view, food security is mainly about community access to a balanced diet on a sustainable basis. Access to a balanced diet is determined by the supply of the relevant food items and the ability to acquire them. But in the same article, Odongkara (1999) admits that the fishing communities themselves are unable to produce the different food items due to a number of factors. Additionally, because of their low purchasing power, these communities are also often unable to access adequate nutritive food produced elsewhere. The studies above indicate that there is perceived food insecurity in the lake regions of all three riparian states of Lake Victoria.

3.3 Fishery Management Problems

There is little success in implementing most of the provisions of the Fisheries Act in Kenya that address the issues of sustainability of the fishery. In particular, the regulations pertaining to restricting the use of under-sized mesh nets, prohibiting fishing in breeding and spawning areas and those banning trawling are rarely enforced. According to Owino (1999), these outlawed activities have continued unabated, putting the fishery at risk of over exploitation, and raising concerns of long-term food insecurity for dependent communities.

3.3.1 Gear theft and Fish Poisoning

The twin social evils of gear theft and fish poisoning depict a desperate situation where some members of the fishing community are using any means to earn an income, irrespective of the social, economic and environmental implications. Theft of fishing gear on Lake Victoria is an old problem (Jansen, 1973). Such cases, though, were isolated in the past and not in a scale that could have an impact on the overall fishing activities. In any case, the existing norms in the fishing community ensured that gear thieves received adequate sanction to deter them from repeating the crime.

The increased demand for Nile perch in the 1980s and early 90s provided enough incentives for fishers to invest in very expensive gillnets and longlines. Almost simultaneously, there was a rise in cases of gear theft. The situation reached uncontrollable levels in the second half of the 1990s. Gear theft is now recognised by the fishing community as one of the most serious management problems in the Lake Victoria fishery (SEDAWOG, 1999a; 1999b). In recent times, there have been even more serious cases of violent robberies on the lake, where outboard engines have been taken from fishermen at gunpoint. The Fisheries Department appears ill equipped to stop gear theft since they lack outboard engines and the capacity to confront armed robbers on the lake. At the same time there is no Police Unit specifically trained to combat theft or robbery on the lake.

The immediate consequence of gear theft is that many fishermen who have lost nets have become jobless. They cannot earn an income to support their families, making them food insecure. Some fishermen, though, have now turned to using beach seines and mosquito seines. These are active gears, since fishermen stay with them throughout the fishing operations, making their theft very difficult. Yongo (1999) has blamed the rapid increase of beach seines in Kenya on gear theft. Beach seine is a nonselective gear, with long-term disastrous effect on the sustainability of the fishery. In a way, therefore, gear theft has both short and long-term negative effects on food security of fishery-dependent households.

Catching fish using poisonous chemicals is even a more recent practice. The practice came to the limelight only in 1997-99, when the Government banned fishing to curb fish poisoning. Fish poisoning has not been confined to Kenya, as Uganda and Tanzania also recognised it as a problem and took similar action to stop it. The origin of the poisoning problem is not well known. However, the Lake Victoria Fisheries Research Project conducted studies in 1998 and 1999 to determine the nature of the chemicals used, the origin of the poisoning problem and the factors facilitating its spread (unpublished). As in the case of gear theft, most fishermen lost a source of income when fishing was banned to stop fish poisoning. Local fish consumers also had no fish to eat during the time of the ban. to 5-10 Kg in 1996. In addition, boat catch rates have reduced from a daily average of 400-500 Kg in 1981 to about 100-150 Kg in 1996. This has gone down further to 80 Kg per boat per day in 1997. This means that both the income per boat and per fisherman have correspondingly dropped (O'Riordan, 1997; Othina and Osewe-Odera, 1996; Othina, 1999).

Despite the catch decline experienced in recent years, an official Kenya Government (1997) report still states that there is scope to increase fish production in the country fivefold. According to the report, the fisheries sector has a potential of 552,000 metric tonnes of fish annually but presently only 184,000 are being produced, representing only 33%. Whereas it may still be possible to increase output from Kenyan marine waters in the Indian Ocean and aquaculture, it is clear from available data that, with the current system of management, there is little chance of an upswing in Lake Victoria catches in the foreseeable future.

In order to ensure sustainable fishing, there is need to develop a more effective regulation and enforcement framework for the lake. The regulations should control sizes of fish targeted, mesh sizes used, fishing in breeding areas, the use of beach seining, trawling, pollution and aquatic weeds. Most of these regulations are already provided for in the Kenya Fisheries Act, however, the problem lies with lack of enforcement of the Act. Secondly, the government should enact administrative controls on the expansion of the fish processing factories, as well as that of fishmeal plants. In particular, the government should not license new factories since the fish processing industry is evidently already over-established. A related issue is for the governments to consider is the possibility of allocating export quotas to each factory. The quantity of 'dagaa' going for fishmeal should also be closely monitored and controlled. Factories can, on their own, contribute toward this effort by not processing immature Nile perch.

3.4 "Poverty Trap"

Official Government of Kenya reports use poverty benchmarks to distinguish the poor from non-poor. This is based on the minimum amount of food, and non-food expenditure needed to meet the basic

needs. In 1994, a household with a monthly total expenditure not exceeding Ksh. 978 in a rural area or Ksh. 1490 in an urban area was deemed to be below the poverty line. Based on these poverty lines, the overall prevalence of poverty in 1994 was 47% and

29% in rural and urban areas respectively (Kenya Government, 1997). The report uses the term "absolutely poor" or "hardcore poor", estimated at 7.5 million in 1997 in the country, to describe those who would not meet their minimum calorie requirement, even if they concentrated all their spending on food. Among the urban areas in Kenya, food poverty was highest in Kisumu in 1997, estimated at 44.1% of the households. Similarly Kisumu had the highest level of absolute poverty.

In a study conducted by SEDAWOG (1999a) most consumers gave low income as the reason why they cannot eat fish more frequently. Others blamed the rapid decline in catches and the high fish prices. However, Mogaka (1999) has explained that Thus, it appears that an increasing number of households are becoming dependent on the fishery as the basic source of family income, at a time when the fishery output is on the decline. The problem of poverty is further complicated by the high dependency ratio in the lake region. Reports of SEDAWOG (1999a; b) indicate that fishing and fish trading households and even the general fish-eating families in the lake region tend to have family sizes exceeding 6 members. This dependency situation has been aggravated by the AIDS pandemic, which has seriously affected family structure and stability in the Lake region.

Province	Non-agricultural	Agricultural Incomes	Total Income
	Income	-	
Nairobi	16351	438	16789
Central	6060	3206	9266
Coast	7659	2234	9893
Eastern	4184	2388	6572
North Eastern	5209	4722	9931
Nyanza	4377	2373	6750

Table 4. Mean Monthly Household Income by Province (Ksh), 1994

4. Consequences of Food Insecurity

Food insecurity almost invariably results in some degree of malnutrition, especially in affected children. If a community is exposed to a critically inadequate supply of food for long period, a situation of famine may develop. Another angle to this issue is how food insecure people relate to their environment. The most prominent view is that, in an attempt to survive, communities that are food insecure will destroy their environment, thus aggravating their situation (Cleaver and Schreiber, 1999; Thrupp and Megateli, 1998).

4.1 Malnutrition

Malnutrition is the resulting condition when the intake of proteins and energy foods is critically inadequate for the needs, especially of a growing child. According to Young and Jaspers (1995), malnutrition results from an inadequate intake of energy and protein, as well as other nutrients. Perhaps the most important consequences of malnutrition are the diseases closely associated with deficiency in nutrient intake. Of these, kwashiorkor and *marasmus*, both of which mainly affect children in the first two years of life, are most common, hence, economically important. They represent the extreme forms of protein energy malnutrition. Kwashiorkor often results when children are not getting a particular nutrient, mainly proteins, in their diet, even though they may be eating enough food. On the other hand, marasmus arises when a child is not getting enough food of any kind, as in a situation of starvation. Under-nutrition refers to reduced food

intake in relation to recommended dietary levels. The nutritional status of young children is a sensitive indicator of health status and nourishment level of a population.

Malnutrition can be caused by a number of interrelated factors. The two immediate causes, which often occur together, are inadequate diet and infectious diseases. Young and Jaspers (1995) explain that the immediate causes stem from three groups of underlying causes. These are food security, basic health services and maternal and child-care. In practice, the three groups of underlying causes interact with one another. In the past, malnutrition was thought to be a protein deficiency problem that could be cured by intake of high protein foods. By the mid-seventies, the interaction between energy Child malnutrition is a problem in all districts around the lake region. Results of a survey carried out in 1994 show that, in most of the districts where fishing is a dominant economic activity such as Homa Bay, Migori, Kisumu, Siava and Busia children are moderately or severely stunted, indicating a high prevalence of child malnutrition (Kenva Government, 1996). A study by Whyte and Kariuki (1991) showed that marasmus and kwashiokor were serious problems in Kisumu, Siaya and Busia districts. They attributed the causes of malnutrition to both problems of feeding and poor maternal care.

An earlier report by Chalken (1988) cited South Nyanza District as having the highest rate of child mortality in Kenya, as well as very high rates of malnutrition and malaria. The report stated that the main cause of malnutrition in the district was the consumption of low calorific value foods that provide insufficient protein, vitamins and minerals. Parents in the district fed children mainly on porridge made from cereal grains. Their incomes were often too low to afford a range of protein foods, including fish. The report recommended, among other things, that feeding children on the relatively cheap '*dagaa*' porridge was one way of lessening child malnutrition.

Friis *et al* (1997) also reported on vitamin A deficiency in children in Siaya District, which they attributed to inadequate dietary intake of the vitamin and low absorption and utilization of Vitamin A due to infectious diseases. In the 1994-96 National Development Plan for Kenya it is estimated that at least one-third of Kenyan children are anaemic, mainly because of low dietary availability of iron and folic acid. The solution to Kenya's chronic food insecurity, according to this document, lies in increased economic growth, improved income distribution and growth in agricultural and other sectors (Kenya Government, 1994a).

Another survey conducted in Kisumu District in 1982 found that the prevalence of stunting was below the national average. Five years later the prevalence of chronic and acute under-nutrition had declined nationally but increased in Kisumu District. In 1987, about 23% of children in Kisumu District were accessible to many households. On this basis, the protein-deficiency explanation for malnutrition would appear to hold more weight. There is need of further research in this direction to establish the cause of the malnutrition problem in the area.

4.2 Famine

Famine is the resulting situation when there is prolonged critical inadequate supply of food to a section of the population. Sen (1981) showed that famine and starvation are not solely related to overall food supplies, but are the result of a decline in people's access to food, or as he termed it, a decrease in their 'exchange entitlements'. The exchange entitlements are attained mainly through trade, own production, own labor or asset transfer. Employment opportunities, wage rates, market prices and cost of essential purchases, food included, all have an effect on exchange entitlements. When these exchange entitlements fail to meet the minimum food needs then famine or starvation results. A reduction in exchange entitlements may be equated to food insecurity.

4.3 Environmental Consequences

Cleaver and Schreiber (1994) explain that a critical link exists between food security and the environment, which may be destabilised by slow growth in agricultural and food production, rapid population growth and increasing environmental degradation. According to Thrupp and Megateli (1998) there is an intricate linkage between food security, environmental security (natural resource management and pollution prevention) and social security (political-economic security, social justice and conflict resolution). These three parameters are equally vital for livelihood and sustainable socioeconomic development. Environmental degradation, food insecurity and socio-economic decline are, thus, interrelated in a vicious cycle. Reardon and Shaikh (1995) explain that overexploitation, pollution and depletion of resources undermine productive capacities, leading to declining yields in agriculture and fisheries, and to high socio-economic costs. Such

reverse, food insecurity often causes poor people to overexploit and degrade resources in an attempt to survive.

The stress from a rapidly growing population on the available land and natural resource base has been tremendous in many areas around Lake Victoria. In the past, traditional cropping and livestock production methods and cultural practices were well suited to the needs of a slowly growing lakeside population living off a fragile environmental resource base. However, the situation has changed rapidly in line with a declining per capita arable land. Farmers and rural inhabitants are increasingly being forced to adopt practices that are ecologically disastrous, such as cultivating in forested areas or on erosion-prone slopes.

5. Summary, Conclusion and Recommendations

5.1 Summary

•

- Access to fish is limited in three ways;
 - i. The relatively high prices paid by processing factories makes it unaffordable to local consumers;
 - ii. The export market takes nearly all good-quality Nile perch. Local consumers can only get Nile perch that has been rejected by factories as undersize or poor quality; and
 - iii. Concentration of fish harvesting resources in the hands of a few rich fishermen alienates the majority of potential fishermen from their entitlement to the fish resources.

5.2 Conclusion

In conclusion, food insecurity is indeed a problem for lakeside communities. This is manifested in the critical state of child malnutrition in the lake area. The problem of food insecurity is multi-dimensional, arising from a number of causes that put constraints to food availability or limits local people's access to it. Fish is central to the food insecurity problem for lakeside communities. As a rich protein food, it offers a solution to the protein-deficiency conditions affecting children in the lake area. It is also a potential income source for those engaged in fish production, processing and marketing. Despite these advantages, fish is lowly regarded in the national food policies. The fisheries policy objectives see the role of fish in improving food security locally, but the need to earn foreign exchange has superseded the interest for domestic food security. Factors constraining food security are related to transformation of the fishery into an industrial and commercial venture, fishery management problems, low agricultural productivity and socio-cultural impediments. Thus, the development of the Lake Victoria fishery clearly has contributed to the food insecurity problem. The current trends in the fish industry do not promote the important objectives set by the Government of Kenya for development of the fishery, in particular in relation to food security.

5.3 Recommendations

- 1. The fisheries policies should be re-focussed to put greater emphasis on food security. It should avoid conflicting objectives such as goals to both maximize foreign exchange and ensure food security, since there is a limited supply of fish in the country.
- 2. There is need to set priority in terms of use of fishery products in fishmeal production, when there is high demand for them for direct human consumption. It would be socially and economically important to control the use of fish frames and '*dagaa*' in fishmeal. The human market must take priority over fishmeal whenever there is direct conflict. In addition, the frames for human consumption could generate new opportunities for employment in the traditional sector.
- 3. There is clearly a need for controlling the expansion of the fish processing and exporting industry. This is important for food security as well as sustainable exploitation of the fisheries. Such controls may involve limiting the licensing or establishment of new factories. The Government may also institute a policy of allocating export quotas to existing factories. A good point to start may be to consider the export quota already instituted in Uganda, ostensibly to address the local food insecurity interests. The Ugandan Government has allocated quotas on the quantity of fish to be processed by fish processing plants. This policy intervention by the Ugandan Government ensures that there is a clear balance between fish going for export and that for the domestic market.
- 4. Fourth, there is a need to address the critical fishery management problems. This, as suggested by Mak'ochieng (1999), may include limiting access to the resources by instituting and allocating long-term exclusive use rights to fishery. A second management strategy is to improve enforcement capabilities through greater surveillance. To support this, the penalties for default should be increased such that the costs of breaching a regulation exceed the potential gains from the wrong act. Fishery activities should also be diversified, particularly to include the development of aquaculture.
- 5. A major limitation to this study is that it is based on broad macro-data, and uses very little of primary household-based data, especially on nutritional status. Such household nutrition data is largely unavailable. There is need for further studies at household level to generate such data, examine the problems of food acquisition within the household and constraints to food consumption in the family unit, and identify factors that cause nutritional constraints at that level.

6. REFERENCES

- Abila, R.O. (1994). 'The Socio-economics of Nile Perch Frames Marketing in Kisumu'. Proceedings of the K.M.F.R.I. Seminar on the Utilization of Nile Perch By-products', Kisumu, June 7-10, 1994, Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute, Kisumu.
- Abila, R.O. (1995). "Structure, Conduct and Performance of the Kisumu Fish Marketing System", MSc. Thesis, University of Nairobi, Nairobi.
- Abila, R.O. (1998). 'Four Decades of the Nile Perch Fishery in Lake Victoria: Technological Development, Impacts and Policy Options for Sustainable utilization'. *In:* Howard G.W. and S.W.Matindi (Eds). 'Water Hyacinth, Nile Perch and Pollution: Issues for Ecosystem Management in Lake Victoria'. IUCN-Eastern Africa Regional Program. IUCN, Nairobi.
- Abila, R.O. and E.G. Jansen (1997). 'From Local to Global Markets: The Fish Exporting and Fishmeal Industries of Lake Victoria – Structure, Strategies and Socio-economic Impacts in Kenya'. Socio-economics of the Lake Victoria Fisheries Project Report No.2, IUCN-Eastern Africa Regional Program. IUCN, Nairobi.
- Abila R.O., E.O.Yongo, C.A.Lwenya and R.N.Omwega (1998). Preliminary Report on the 'Surveys on the Nutritional Status, Health and Social Amenities of Lakeside Communities'. KMFRI/LVEMP. Kisumu.
- Achieng, A.P. (1990). 'Lake Victoria Fisheries and Fish Pathogens'. In: Ogutu G.E.M. (Ed). Artisanal Fisheries of Lake Victoria, Kenya: Options for Management, Production and Marketing. Proceedings of the Artisanal Fisheries (Kenya) Workshop, Kisumu, 24-26 November 1988. Shirikon Publishers, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Anderson, A.M. (1961). 'Further Observations Concerning the Proposed Introduction of Nile Perch into Lake Victoria'. East African Agricultural and Forestry Journal 26(4): 701-733.
- Barraclough, S. (1996). 'Food Security and Secure Access to Land by the Rural Poor'. Development. 4: 22-27.
- Bokea, C. and M. Ikiara (2000). 'The Macroeconomy of the Export Fishing Industry in Lake Victoria (Kenya)'. Socioeconomics of the Lake Victoria Fisheries Project Report No.7. IUCN Eastern Africa Regional Program, IUCN. Nairobi.
- Borton, J. and S. Shoham (1991). 'Mapping Vulnerability to Food Security: Tentative Guidelines for WFP Offices'. Mimeo. Study Commissioned by the World Food Programme. London.

- Geheb, K. (1996). 'The Regulators and the Regulated: Fisheries Management, Options and Dynamics in Kenya's Lake Victoria Fisheries'. *Ph.D Thesis*, University of Sussex, UK.
- Greboval, D. and P. Mannini (1992). "The Fisheries of Lake Victoria: Review of Basic Data", UNDP/FAO Regional Project, Inland Fisheries Planning RAF/87/099/-WP/16/92, FAO, Rome.
- Hoekstra, T.M., A. Asila, C. Rabuor, O. Rambiri (1990), "Report on the Census of Fishing Boats and Gear in Lake Victoria, Kenya". UNDP/FAO Regional Project, IFIP, Nairobi
- IFPRI, (1995). 'A 2020 Vision for Food, Agriculture and the Environment: The Vision, Challenge and Recommended Action'. IFPRI. Washington.
- Ikiara, M.M. (1999). 'Sustainability, Livelihoods, Production and Effort Supply in a Declining Fishery: The Case of Kenya's Lake Victoria Fisheries'. *PhD Thesis*. University of Amsterdam.
- Jansen, E.G. (1973). "The Fishing Population in the Kenyan Part of Lake Victoria", Report to the East African Freshwater Fisheries Research Organisation, Department of Social Anthropology, University of Bergen, Norway.
- Jansen, E.G. (1977). "The Development of the Lake Victoria Fisheries and the Possibilities of Norwegian Participation", *East African Journal of Rural Development* Vol.10, Nos 1 & 2
- Jansen, E.G. (1996). "Rich Fisheries Poor Fisherfolk: The Effects of Trade and Aid in the Lake Victoria Fisheries", *Socio*economics of the Lake Victoria Fisheries Project Report No.1. IUCN Eastern Africa Programme, IUCN. Nairobi.
- Jansen, E.G., R.O.Abila, J.P.Owino (1999). 'Constraints and Opportunities for Community Participation in the Management of the Lake Victoria Fisheries'. Socio-economics of the Lake Victoria Fisheries Project Report No.6. IUCN Eastern Africa Programme, IUCN, Nairobi.
- Kenya Government, (1994 a). National Development Plan 1994-96 Government Printers. Nairobi.
- Kenya Government, (1994 b). Sessional Paper No. 4 on National Food Policy. Government Printers. Nairobi.
- Kenya Government, (1995). Statistical Abstracts, Central Bureau of Statistics, Nairobi.
- Kenya Government, (1996). 'Welfare Monitoring Survey II 1994: Basic Report', Central Bureau of Statistics. Nairobi.
- Kenya Government, (1997). Economic Survey. Central Bureau of Statistics. Nairobi.
- King, M., F.King, D.Morley, L.Burgess, A.Burgess (1972). 'Nutrition for Developing Countries'. Oxford University Press. Nairobi.
- Mak'Ochieng, B.O.S. (1999). 'Political Economy of Lake Victoria Fishing Arrangements: A Case for Policy and Legislative Control'. In: Proceedings of the IUCN Workshop on, 'The Lake Victoria Fisheries and Food Security; Consequences for Security and Sustainability'. IUCN Eastern Africa Regional Programme, IUCN, Nairobi.
- Mbuga, J.S., A. Getabu, A. Asila, M. Medard and R.O. Abila (1998). 'Trawling in Lake Victoria: Its History, Status and Effects'. Socio-economics of the Lake Victoria Fisheries Project Report No.3, IUCN East Africa Regional Program, IUCN. Nairobi.
- Mogaka, S.N. (1999). 'Health, Nutrition and Food Issues Along Lake Victoria'. *In*: Proceedings of the IUCN Workshop on, 'The Lake Victoria Fisheries and Food Security; Consequences for Security and Sustainability'. IUCN Eastern Africa Regional Programme, IUCN. Nairobi.
- Mwale, S.M. (1998). 'Integrating Food and Environmental Security in the Greater Horn of Africa': A Preliminary Institutional Stakeholder Analysis. A Report submitted to IUCN and WRI.
- Mwaniki, D. (1999). Interview in 'Big Fish, Small Fry'. An IUCN-EARO 'Socio-economics of the Nile perch Fishery on the Lake Victoria' Video. IUCN Eastern Africa Regional Programme, IUCN. Nairobi,

- Okemwa, E. and A. Getabu (1996). 'Fish Farming in Kenya with Particular Reference to Lake Victoria Fisheries'' Paper Presented at the Seminar on the Management of Integrated Freshwater Piscicultural Ecosystems in Tropical Areas'' May 16-19. Brussels.
- O'Riordan, B. (1997). 'Fisheries, Farming and Food Security in Nyanza: Caught Between the Devil and the Deep Blue Sea?' ITDG. Nairobi, Kenya.
- Othina, A.N and S. Osewe-Odera (1996). "Catch and Effort Assessment Survey for Artisanal Fisheries of Lake Victoria (Kenya Waters)", Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute, Kisumu.
- Othina, A.N. (1999). 'The Status of the Artisanal Fishery of Lake Victoria, Kenya, with Notes on Improvements to the Catch Data Collection System'. KMFRI.
- Owino, J. (1999). 'Traditional and Central Management Systems of the Lake Victoria Fisheries in Kenya'. *Socio-economics* of the Lake Victoria Fisheries Project Report No.5. IUCN Eastern Africa Program, IUCN. Nairobi.
- Palfreman, A. and D. Insull (1994). 'Guide to Fisheries Sector Studies'. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper No. 342. FAO. Rome.
- Reardon, T. and A. Shaikh (1995). 'Links between Environment and Agriculture in Africa: Implications for Economic Growth and Policy'. Natural Resources Policy Consultative Group for Africa. Washington DC. USAID/ WRI.
- Reynolds, J.E. and D.F. Greboval (1988)." Socio-economic Effects of the Evolution of Nile Perch Fisheries in Lake Victoria: A Review", *CIFA Technical Paper No.17*, Committee for the Inland Fisheries of Africa, FAO, Rome.
- Reynolds, J.E, D.F. Greboval and P. Mannini, (1992). "Thirty Years On: Observations on the Development of the Nile Perch Fishery in Lake Victoria", Paper Presented at the Symposium on Impact of Species Changes in African Lakes, 27-31 March 1992, Imperial College, London.
- SEDAWOG, (1999 a). Marketing Study. LVFRP Technical Document No. 2. LVFRP/TECH/99/05. The Lake Victoria Fisheries Research Project. Jinja.
- SEDAWOG, (1999 b). The Survey of Lake Victoria's Fishers. LVFRP Technical Document No. 5. LVFRP/TECH/99/05. The Lake Victoria Fisheries Research Project. Jinja, Uganda.
- Sen, A. (1981). 'Poverty and Famines: An Essay on Entitlement and Deprivation'. Clarendon Press. Oxford.
- Shoham, J. and E. Clay (1989). 'The Role of Socio-economic Data in Food Needs Assessment and Monitoring'. *Disasters*, 13 (1) pp 41-60.
- TAFIRI, (1998). 'Lake Victoria Fisheries: Its Impact on Nutrition, Health and Social Amenities in Mwanza Region'. A Draft Report to the Lake Victoria Environment Management Project. Mwanza, Tanazania.
- USAID, (1994). 'Building a Foundation for Food Security and Crisis Prevention in the Greater Horn of Africa': A Concept Paper for Discussion. USAID.
- Thrupp, L. A and N. Megateli (1998). 'Critical Links: Food Security and the Environment in the Greater Horn of Africa'. A Discussion Paper for Stakeholder Analysis and Dialogue on Food Security and the Environment in the Greater Horn of Africa. WRI.
- Watkins, K. (1996). The Oxfam Poverty Report. OXFAM.UK
- Whyte, S.R. and P.W. Kariuki (1991). 'Malnutrition and Gender Relations in Western Kenya'. *Health Transition Review* Vol. 1 No.2.
- Witte, F. and W.L.T. van Densen (1995). 'Fish Stocks and Fisheries of Lake Victoria'. Samara Publishing Ltd. Cardigan. UK.
- World Bank, (1986). 'Poverty and Hunger: Issues and Options for Food Security in Developing Countries'. A World Bank Policy Study. World Bank.
- Yongo, E. O. (1991) 'Factors affecting Input Supply to Artisanal Fisheries of Lake Victoria (Kenya)'. Proceedings of the Symposium on 'Socio-economic aspects of the Lake Victoria Fisheries'. 7 14th July 1994, Sunset Hotel, Kisumu.
- Yongo, E.O. 1994; 'Socio-economic Aspects of Artisanal Nile Perch Processors', Proceedings of the KMFRI Seminar on the 'Utilization of Nile Perch By-Products', 7-10 June 1994, Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute, Kisumu
- Yongo, E.O. (1999). 'Fragile Hinterland, Fragile Lake: Obstacles To Sustainable Growth in the Fisheries Of Lake Victoria And Its Hinterlands': *In* Proceedings of the Workshop on, 'The Lake Victoria Fisheries and Food Security; Consequences for Security and Sustainability'. IUCN-EARO. Nairobi.
- Young, H. and S. Jaspers (1995). '*Nutrition Matters: People, Food and Famine*'. Intermediate Technology Publications. London. UK.